

Written by

Susanne Gadinger Helmut Fennes Fred Berger

Research Report



Main findings of interviews 2015, 2016, 2018, 2023

Long-term
effects of
Erasmus+ Youth
in Action on
participation
and citizenship
- extension

Transnational Research Report 'Erasmus+ Youth' and 'Erasmus+ Youth in Action' have been part of the Erasmus+ Programme of the European Union in its current (2021–2027) and previous (2014–2020) programme generation. The RAY Network, which includes the National Agencies of the European youth programmes and their research partners in 34 countries*, conducts quantitative, qualitative and mixed-method projects for the research-based analysis of the European youth programmes, including Erasmus+ Youth.

This research report summarises the transnational analysis of the longitudinal study on long-term effects of Erasmus+ Youth in Action on participation and citizenship, which started in 2015 (as RAY LTE) and has concluded in 2025 (as RAY LTE EXT) with the publication of this report. Interviews for the study were conducted in 2015, 2016, 2018 and 2023.

The research work underpinning this report was designed and implemented by the University of Innsbruck and the Generation and Educational Science Institute in cooperation with the RAY Network and supported by Youth Policy Labs.

The research work underpinning this report was co-funded through the Transnational Cooperation Activities (TCA) of Erasmus+ Youth and Erasmus+ Youth in Action.

This report, however, reflects the views only of its authors, and neither the European Commission nor a National Agency can be held responsible for any use, which may be made of the information contained therein.

* 34 countries in 2024/2025; Austria, Belgium, Bulgaria, Croatia, Cyprus, Czechia, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Iceland, Ireland, Italy, Latvia, Liechtenstein, Lithuania, Luxembourg, Malta, the Netherlands, North Macedonia', Norway, Poland, Portugal, Romania, Serbia', Slovakia, Slovenia, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland', and Türkiye.



Where available, national research reports can be requested from the respective National Agencies and their research partners



www.researchyouth.net/network

Further RAY publications can be retrieved from



www.researchyouth.net

Erasmus+ Enriching lives, opening minds.







Published by Youth Policy Labs, Berlin

CC BY-NC-SA 4.0 by Susanne Gadinger, Helmut Fennes, Fred Berger

Original design by Mursal Nasr & Paula Klattenhoff

Current layout by Andreas Karsten & Tom Pincus

Report typeset by Source Creative Oy, Helsinki This work is licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 4.0 License.

To view a copy of this licence, visit https://crea-tivecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/4.0/

or send a letter to

Creative Commons, 444 Castro Street, Suite 900, Mountain View, California, 94041, USA. This report as well as the accompanying annexes can be retrieved from www.researchyouth.net/lte

More information about the underlying research projects can be obtained from

 $\frac{\text{https://www.researchyouth.}}{\text{net/projects/lteext/}}$

and

https://www.researchyouth.net/projects/lte/



Research Report



Long-term effects of Erasmus+ Youth in Action on participation and citizenship - extension

Transnational Analysis

Interviews conducted in 2023

Previous interviews conducted in 2015, 2016 and 2018

CONTENTS

ABBREVIATIONS AND DEFINITIONS

3.7 Structure of the research report

1 — EXE	CUTIVE SUMMARY	7
1.1	Context of the study	7
1.2	RAY LTE extension (RAY LTE EXT)	7
1.3	Main findings	7
1.4	Recommendations	8
2 — INT	RODUCTION AND CONTEXT OF THE STUDY	9
2.1	The RAY LTE study (2015-2018)	9
2.2	The RAY PART study (2019-2021)	1
2.3	Reasons to extend the RAY LTE study	1
2 — ТИ	E RAY LTE EXT STUDY	1:
3 — THI 3.1		
	Aims, objectives and main research questions	1:
3.2	Research design, sample and methodological approach	1:
3.3	Research partners	10
3.4	Policy framework	1
3.5	Theoretical framework	1
3.6	Limitations of the study	1

6

19

4 —	RESU	JLTS OF THE RAY LTE EXT STUDY	20
	4.1	Persistent project effects on participation and citizenship competence and practice	20
	4.2	European dimension of persistent project effects on participation and citizenship competence and practice	22
	4.3	Impact of other experiences and events on participation and citizenship competence and practice	24
	4.4	General meaning participants attribute to their project	25
		Project effects on personal development and on the educational and professional career	25
	4.6	Further results	27
5 —	RECO	OMMENDATIONS	30
6 —	BIBL	IOGRAPHY	33

ABBREVIATIONS AND DEFINITIONS

ABBREVIATIONS AND DEFINITIONS

ABBREVIATIONS AND DELINITIONS			
European Union Programme Erasmus+ (2021-2027)			
Erasmus+ Youth in Action (2014-2020) – predessesor programme of Erasmus+ Youth (2021-2027)			
European Voluntary Service (Key Action 1). As of 2018, this format is coverered by a new European youth programme, the European Solidarity Corpsyouth programme, the European Solidarity Corps			
European Union			
Researched-based Analysis of European youth programmes. The RAY Network consists of the Youth in Action National Agencies and their research partners involved in the RAY project.			
Research project on the long-term effects of the European youth programmes on participation and citizenship			
Extension of the research project on the long-term effects of the European youth programmes on participation and citizenship			
Research project on participation and citizenship education and learning in the European youth programmes			

ACTIVITY TYPES OF E+/YIA THE INTERVIEW PARTNERS TOOK PART IN

European Voluntary Service	
Mobility of youth workers	
Structured Dialogue	
Training course	
Youth Exchange	

PROJECT PARTNER COUNTRIES

AT	Austria
CZ	Czechia
DE	Germany
FI	Finland
IT	Italy
MT	Malta

PROJECT COORDINATION

This research project has been coordinated at transnational level by the Austrian RAY research partner, the University of Innsbruck.

SPECIAL THANKS

to the National Agencies of the project partner countries and, in particular, to their research partners: Ondřej Bárta; Joanne Cassar; Eva Feldmann-Wojtachnia; Kari Saari; Barbara Tham and Adele Tinaburri.

1 — EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 CONTEXT OF THE STUDY

This study is an extension of the study on Longterm Effects of Erasmus+ Youth in Action on Participation and Citizenship (RAY LTE) conducted between 2015 and 2018¹.

RAY LTE aimed at exploring long-term effects of Erasmus+ Youth in Action (E+/YiA) projects on participants and project leaders with respect to the development of participation and citizenship competence and practice.

RAY LTE was designed as a longitudinal/panel study with a mixed-method approach using quantitative and qualitative social research methods: a series of four multilingual online surveys and – in parallel – of three semi-structured interviews at various stages before and after the core activity of the project.

Following the RAY LTE study, an obvious subsequent question was how European youth projects contribute to the development participation and citizenship competence and practice – in particular, which project designs, learning approaches, methodologies and methods contribute to this development. This question was explored in the RAY research project 'Participation and citizenship education and learning in European Youth Programmes' (RAY PART, 2019-2021)², in which a qualitative research approach with case studies of projects funded through European youth programmes was applied.

1.2 RAY LTE EXTENSION (RAY LTE EXT)

RAY LTE EXT aims at exploring the learning effects on participants over a longer period of time – seven to eight years after the project – in particular with respect to

- the development of participation and citizenship competence and practice;
- the sustainability of learning effects discovered through three interviews;
- the impact of other experiences and events on participation and citizenship competence and practice;

 the meaning participants attribute to their project participation with respect to their personal development as well as their educational and professional career.

RAY LTE EXT was implemented through a fourth interview in 2023 with participants who had been interviewed three times within the RAY LTE study between 2015 and 2018.

RAY LTE EXT involved 30 of 52 participants (from six of the 10 RAY partners involved in RAY LTE) who had been interviewed three times between 2015 and 2018.

1.3 MAIN FINDINGS

Persistent effects on participation and citizenship competence and practice

- Two thirds of the interview partners were confirming that learning effect(s) of their project participation with respect to participation and citizenship are still meaningful to them.
- Five interviewees did not refer to the learning effects mentioned in the second and third interview, but describe a learning through the project, which they became aware of in retrospect later.
- The effects of their E+/YiA projects reported by the interviewees cover all competence areas related to participation and citizenship – as in the two previous rounds of interviews.
- Two thirds of the interview partners reported in the fourth interview, that the European dimension – European identity, interest in as well as knowledge about Europe etc. – reported in the first interview before the project, which had been enhanced through the project as reported in the second and third interview, is still present today respectively increased; for example, for two of these interviewees this European dimension is a main aspect of their professional work as screenwriters.

¹ See Bárta, Fennes, Gadinger (2021); see also https://www.researchyouth.net/projects/lte/

² See Fennes, Gadinger (2021a)

Effects of other experiences of life on participation and citizenship competence

Interview partners mentioned numerous other experiences having an effect on their participation and citizenship competence and practice, e.g.,

- living, studying and working abroad;
- involvement in other youth projects in other countries;
- social and/or political occurrences e.g., war in Ukraine, climate change, corruption, conspiracy theories during the Corona pandemic, authoritarian and rightwing extremist tendencies in Europe etc.

Interview partners were also describing connections between project effects and effects of other experiences in their lives.

Project effects on personal development and educational/professional careers

Around two thirds of the interviewees expressed that the project had an influence on their personal development such as learning more about oneself, becoming more open and sociable, becoming more self-confident, reducing prejudices and gaining more courage to do something new etc. The interviewees also talked about getting out of their comfort zone, going beyond their limits, overcoming their shyness and acquiring life competences like flexibility, decision-making as well as awareness.

More than half of the participants reported, that the project participation had an effect on their decision for a certain field of studies or profession, respectively that they developed competences, which enabled them to do their work in a better way.

Four fifth of the interviewees described the project as an important experience, assessing the importance equally as other influences or at least attributing a rather strong general meaning to their project.

1.4 RECOMMENDATIONS

The recommendations of the RAY LTE and RAY PART research projects are supported by the results of the RAY LTE EXT study and were refined against this background, summarised and re-arranged. Selected recommendations are:

On the project level, it is mainly recommended to emphasise project objectives and to address explicitly topics related to participation and citizenship. With respect to project design and implementation, a considerable number of recommendations is presented, such as linking social and political events and developments to the project theme, using adequate non-formal education and learning methods and providing for adequate preparation of and follow-up to the projects. Recommendations on the programme implementation level refer to the promotion of participation and active citizenship as project themes and to the elaboration of youth work competences, which are important for fostering participation and citizenship education and learning. Recommendations at the programme and policy level are the provision of sufficient/ additional funding for projects fostering participation and citizenship and the initiation of a 'real' dialogue between policy makers and young people as well as youth workers.

The RAY LTE-recommendation "to highlight environmental protection and sustainable development as topics included in E+/YiA objectives related to participation and active citizenship" was derived from the observation that persistent learning effects connected to the protection of the environment were mentioned frequently in the second and third interviews although only one or two projects touched this topic. With the priority "Environment and fight against climate change" in the programme period 2021-2027 this recommendation was put into practice. However, it must also be mentioned that in the fourth interview no interviewee mentioned learning effects related to these topics.

2 — INTRODUCTION AND CONTEXT OF THE STUDY

For more than 20 years, a main objective of European youth programmes3 has been the promotion of active citizenship and participation in civil society and democratic life in line with the provisions of the Lisbon Treaty (European Union, 2007)4. This objective is also reflected in the European Union Youth Strategy (2019-2027)⁵, in the Youth Participation Strategy of the SALTO Participation & Information Resource Centre⁶ and in the programme decisions of European youth programmes for the period 2014 to 2020 and earlier. In this spirit, projects funded through European youth programmes should contribute to the development of competences relevant for participation and active citizenship as well as to the engagement of young people as active citizens in society⁷. In line with this, "participation in democratic life" became a priority of Erasmus+ (E+) for the period 2021 to 20278. Furthermore, the new activity type 'Youth participation activities' was established, supporting "activities outside formal education and training that encourage, foster and facilitate young people's participation in Europe's democratic life at local, regional, national and European level"9.

In view of these policies and programme objectives, the RAY Network¹⁰ has explored since 2009 the effects of projects funded through Youth in Action (YiA, 2007-2013) and Erasmus+ Youth in Action (E+/YiA, 2014-2020) on young people, youth workers and youth leaders involved in these projects. This was done every second year in the RAY Monitoring (RAY MON) surveys, asking respondents after their project participation about the effects of their project participation¹¹. The analysis of these surveys indicates that participants as well as project team members develop participation and citizenship competence and practice as a result of their involvement in such projects,

and that the percentages of positive responses for most items related to the development of participation/citizenship knowledge, skills, attitudes, values and actions are higher than 50%, sometimes up to 95%. Nevertheless, it needs to be noted that these responses reflect subjective perceptions of the respondents if they developed these competences or not, but they do not actually measure how much these competences were developed.

In order to verify these findings, three consecutive thematic studies on participation and active citizenship were conducted by the RAY Network between 2015 and 2023; this report presents the third study, which is an extension of the first study. The first and the second study are summarised in the following passages in order to provide for an overview.

2.1 THE RAY LTE STUDY (2015-2018)

The RAY research project 'Long-term effects of Erasmus+ Youth in Action on participation and citizenship' (RAY LTE) was developed and implemented between 2015 and 2018. This study aimed to explore long-term effects of projects funded through E+/YiA on project participants and project leaders. Specific research questions were:

- How does E+/YiA contribute to the development of citizenship competence and the ability to participate as active citizens?
- What are long-term effects related to participation and active citizenship on participants and project leaders resulting from their involvement in E+/YiA?

³ Presently, Erasmus+ Youth and the European Solidarity Corps.

⁴ Furthermore, a number of other specific objectives of E+/YiA can also be linked to active citizenship and participation in civil society and democratic life, e.g., fostering solidarity, respect for cultural diversity, inclusion of young people with fewer opportunities or special needs as well as working against discrimination, intolerance, racism and xenophobia. Indirectly, such links can also be found for objectives related to capacity building, quality development and European cooperation in the youth field as well as for objectives related to education and work.

⁵ European Commission, 2018.

⁶ SALTO Participation & Information, 2020.

⁷ European Commission, 2015.

⁸ European Commission, 2021a, p. 10. There are three further priorities: Inclusion and Diversity; Digital Transformation; Environment and fight against climate change. The same priorities were established for the European Solidarity Corps in the same programme generation, but there are slight differences in the wording and order of the priorities: Inclusion and Diversity; Environmental protection, sustainable development and climate action; Digital transformation; Participation in democratic life (European Commission, 2021b, p. 8.) This is mentioned, because three interview partners being part of this research project took part in a project funded by the European Voluntary Service (EVS), which was an activity type of E+ Youth in Action until 2018, and became an activity type of the European Solidarity Corps from 2018 onwards.

ibid, p. 149.

Research-based Analysis of European youth programmes (RAY). The RAY Network consists of the National Agencies of the European youth programmes and their research partners in more than 30 countries (www.researchyouth.net).

¹¹ See Böhler et al., 2021, and Böhler et al., 2022.

These research questions were addressed through a mixed-method approach using quantitative and qualitative social research methods. Standardised multilingual online surveys were conducted with project participants and project leaders/team members as well as with a control group at four stages over a period of three years, starting before the beginning of the project. In parallel, qualitative interviews were conducted at three different stages, also over a period of three years and starting before the beginning of the project. Furthermore, a research conference was implemented with most of the interviewees - as well as with representatives of the National Agencies of the project partners and their national research partners, who had conducted the interviews - at the European Youth Centre in Strasbourg to discuss and validate communicatively the preliminary results of the first three surveys and the first two interviews. Through this research design, participation and citizenship competence and practice development could actually be measured more objectively than through the RAY Monitoring surveys.

Overall, the findings of this study showed that participation and citizenship competence and practice are developed through E+/YiA projects, although not equally for all participants and differing in the degree of development depending on the areas of competence and practice: knowledge and skills, which are needed for participation and active citizenship were deepened and/ or developed; values inherent to democracy, such as solidarity and tolerance, and the European dimension were strengthened; participation in civil society and democratic life increased for some groups of participants. Interviews indicated that many of these effects were still existent and important for the participants two to three years after the project.

In particular, the surveys showed an increase in the fields of knowledge and skills, which was underlined through the surveys of the control group showing no effects at all.

Interviews also showed, that different groups of participants profited in different ways. E.g., for participants, who were already engaged in or informed about a certain topic and chose a respective project to deepen their knowledge and develop their skills, a so-called cumulative advantage was observed: these participants further developed competences and practices, building

on their prior learning. On rather young and less educated participants, the projects had a strong motivating and empowering effect with respect to participation. The latter often came to participate in E+/YiA projects not because of primarily being interested in the topic of the project, but rather aiming to go to another country, to meet new people from abroad, to try something new or to simply bridge a certain period of time. Nevertheless, some of these participants were sensitised for engaging in society, got respective ideas and inspirations, acquired knowledge related to participation and citizenship and developed related skills. Last but not least, for some young people with fewer opportunities the projects had been 'stepping stones' to a more active participation in civil society. For others, the projects were a first step in the sense, that they at least participated in a project and got in contact with the field of participation and citizenship; in order to take further steps towards participation in society individual follow up and support would be needed.

The findings of the RAY LTE research project included a number of recommendations referring to the development of promoting participation and active citizenship in E+/YiA.¹²

2.2 THE RAY PART STUDY (2019-2021)

Since the RAY LTE study provided sufficient evidence that E+/YiA projects actually contribute to the development of participation and citizenship competence and practice, an obvious subsequent question was how European youth projects contribute to this development. This question was explored in the RAY research project 'Participation and citizenship education and learning in European Youth Programmes' (RAY PART, 2019-2021),13 in which a qualitative research approach with case studies of projects funded through European youth programmes was applied; the methods mainly used were observation of core project activities as well as group discussions with participants and interviews with project leaders/team members, the latter ideally directly after the observed project activities.

The study results show that project designs involving participants in actual practice of participation in civil society and democratic life are effective in fostering participation competence and practice, e.g. by implementing actions against

¹² See Bárta et al., 2021.

³ See Fennes, Gadinger 2021a; see also the summary report: Fennes, Gadinger 2021b. In 2018, the European Solidarity Corps was established as stand-alone programme and, subsequently, the RAY Network changed its name into "Research-based analysis of European youth programmes", including Erasmus+ Youth in Action and the European Solidarity Corps.

climate change, the simulation of a political process, in which the participants play the roles of parliamentarians, or the development and maybe also implementation of an own activity for fostering participation of other people in civil society and democratic life. This applies also to the empowerment of specific target groups to actively take part in civil society, for example enabling young people with migration background to conduct their life independently in the society they live in, or the work on and exploration of a topic related to participation and citizenship, for example fostering the discussion about human rights through artistic expression like theatre, dance, collage or music. Within these designs, the following main ways of learning were identified:

- participatory learning, involving the participants actively in all project activities from the very beginning, also in the decision making processes and in design and development of the project;
- xperiential learning through doing something concretely, maybe something that one does not usually do that often or does not have the opportunity to do – for example moderating an event etc.;
- learning from and with others (peer learning) facilitated through the focus of the Erasmus+ Youth in Action projects on working together etc.

Besides this, a number of educational approaches and key learning elements emerged from the researched projects, such as, e.g.: a big variety of non-formal learning methods combined with informal settings, in which also learning took place; a learner-centred approach with respect to content and methods; a strong focus on team building activities; the creation of an appreciative atmosphere through project teams members being empathic, attentive and interested in the participants' suggestions; or using challenges, excitement, playful and funny elements, especially for rather young participants at the age from 13 to 15/16 years.

2.3 REASONS TO EXTEND THE RAY LTE STUDY

Since a timeframe of three years must be considered to be only a very first approach to longterm effects - this aspect was mentioned in the RAY LTE research report in the sub-chapter "Limitations of the study"14 - the idea to continue at least the interviews some years after the third interview was already born in 2018. Almost all interview partners expressed their willingness to also take part in a fourth interview some years later when they were asked about this in the third interview. In 2022, some of the RAY LTE project partners decided to use the unique opportunity to build on the existing valuable data base of the RAY LTE interviews. The extension of the qualitative research strand with a fourth interview was put into practice in 2023, seven to eight years after the first interviews. This fourth interview aimed to explore truly long-term effects and to reveal insights into the persistency of learning effects triggered through project participation over a longer period of time. Beyond that, the epistemological interest also referred to other developments and events in the lives of the interview partners having an influence on their participation and citizenship competence and practice as well as on the meaning the interviewees attribute retrospectively to their project in general with regard to their personal development and professional career. The results of the RAY research project "Long-term effects of Erasmus+ Youth in Action on participation and citizenship - Extension" (RAY LTE EXT) are presented in this report.

¹⁴ Bárta et al., 2021, p. 142.

3 — THE RAY LTE EXT STUDY

3.1 AIMS, OBJECTIVES AND MAIN RESEARCH QUESTIONS

The aim of this project is to explore learning effects of E+/YiA projects on the development of participation and citizenship competence and practice of project participants seven to eight years after the project participation and to explore possible changes of respective learning effects over time.

In addition, the study aims to explore the meaning the participants attribute to their participation in an E+/YiA project seven to eight years after the project in general as well as with regard to their personal development and their educational and professional career.

The main research question was derived against this background:

Looking back after seven to eight years: How does participation in E+/YiA contribute to participation in civil society and in democratic life as well as to active citizenship? What meaning do participants attribute to their project participation in general as well as with regard to their personal development and their educational and professional career?

Specific research questions are:

- How does participation in E+/YiA contribute to participation and citizenship competence and practice of participants from the view seven to eight years after their project participation?
- How persistent are the learning effects with respect to participation and citizenship competence and practice, which the participants reported about one year (second interview) and two to three years (third interview) after their project participation?
- Which other experiences and events had an impact on participation and citizenship competence and practice of the participants

- from the view seven to eight years after their project participation?
- What meaning do participants attribute to their project participation in general and with regard to their personal development as well as educational and professional career from the view seven to eight years after their project participation?

3.2 RESEARCH DESIGN, SAMPLE AND METHODOLOGICAL APPROACH

Research design and sample

In order to be able to answer the research questions, the qualitative research strand of the RAY LTE project, which included three interviews with E+/YiA project participants at different stages (before their project participation as well as one and three years later), was to be continued with a fourth cycle of semi-structured qualitative interviews. In line with the research design of the RAY LTE project, only those RAY LTE interview partners who took part in all three previous interview cycles were eligible for the sample. As shown in table 1 this was a group of 52 persons from the six RAY partner countries¹⁵. At the end, 30 of these 52 participants were interviewed a fourth time.¹⁶

RAY partners in Austria, Czechia, Finland, Germany, Italy and Malta. The RAY LTE project between 2015 and 2018 included also the RAY partners in Estonia, Hungary, Netherlands (only participating in the online-surveys), Slovenia and Sweden; most of them would have liked to join LTE EXT but did not have enough resources, e.g., because they were already involved in several other RAY research projects.

The sampling at the beginning of the LTE project in 2015 was challenging in two regards: There often was only little short time to get in contact with the future participants asking them for their willingness to take part in an interview before their project participation. Many potential interviewees refused to be interviewed due to numerous other obligations, for example education or work. "Therefore, the plan to achieve a sample of young people participating first of all in projects focusing on participation and citizenship could only be put into practice to a certain extent." Bárta et al., 2021, p. 128.

TABLE 1: Number of interviewees per interview cycle and funding country

		Funding countries						
	Interview cycles	AT	cz	DE	FI	IT	МТ	Total
LTE	1st interview cycle before project participation (2015/16) 1st & 2nd interview cycle 1 year after	16	12	20	15	13	9	85
LTE	1st & 2nd interview cycle 1 year after project participation (2016/17)	13	6	14	13	10	7	63
LTE	1st, 2nd & 3rd interview cycle 3 years after project participation (2018/19)	11	5	8	13	8	7	52
LTE EXT	1st, 2nd, 3rd & 4th interview cycle 7-8 years after project participation (2023)	7	4	5	6	5	3	30

Table 1 also documents the inevitable 'panel mortality' between the interview cycles. Although a certain number of participants who took part in the first interview did not want to do a second interview, were too busy or even were not found any more, three querters of 85 participants who had done the first interview were interviewed a second time. The 'loss' between the second and the third interview is only 11 participants. Most of the 52 persons who did also the third interview were pleased afterwards to have done it.

Although the third interview was four years earlier and the living conditions of the interviewees (also their places of residence, their occupations etc.) might have changed, the researchers estimated the chances that these 52 RAY LTE interviewees were willing to be interviewed again in 2023 as good. The interview partners had been asked in

the third interview if they would attend a possible fourth interview and all 52 except one or two expressed their willingness.¹⁷ They also had been asked, how it had been for them to be interviewed and again almost all answered that they had appreciated it: they highlighted the reflective function of the interviews and that they became aware of their learning. Rather young participants reported that only the questions of the interviews helped them to find out about their opinions about certain issues such as Europe or the protection of the environment. Furthermore, many interviewees were interested in the research and were proud to contribute to a research project. A few interviewees were reminded of the importance of being active and even got new ideas about how to participate in society or political life.18

 $^{^{17}}$ This applies also for the interviewees of the former LTE project partners Estonia, Hungary, Slovenia and Sweden.

¹⁸ Bárta et al., 2021, p. 56f.

In order to test the present willingness of the RAY LTE interview partners to take part in a fourth interview, the Austrian researchers sent an initial inquiry to the 11 Austrian RAY LTE interviewees in September 2022 – and the result was impressive: Within three days, seven interview partners sent a positive answer; in the end two of them did not take part, but two other Austrian interviewees who had been answering some days later, did take part.

Against this background, the RAY LTE EXT project partners decided do a fourth cycle of interviews. Besides the listed reasons it surely was helpful, that the contacted RAY LTE interviewees already knew what the request of the National Agencies and researches was about and were familiar with being interviewed and - in the case of four project partners - with the interviewer. The fact that 30 former interviewees finally took part in a fourth interview seven to eight years after taking part in their Erasmus+ Youth in Action project was considered as a great success especially because the big majority of interviewees are still young and very busy, be it with training, studies, work or founding a family. The contact data of these 30 young people appeared to be still valid and 26 of them agreed immediately to take part in the fourth interview; three persons agreed after a while or being asked again and one person agreed a while after she had rejected the invitation.

The sample was composed of 15 female and 15 male interview partners. In average, they were 29 years old at the time of the fourth interview, two thirds of them being between 21 and 30 years. 26 of the interviewees had done university studies and 6 of them a vocational training – this means that two interviewees had done both, studies and vocational training. At the time of the fourth interview, 27 interview partners had finished university or school and were in jobs; 3 participants were still studying at university. At least nine interview partners were living together with their partners, partly were married, partly had built a house together; two interviewees had become mothers.19 Further eight interviewees were permanently or from time to time in a relationship. With respect to voluntary engagement in civil society and/or political life, approximately five of the 30 interview partners had not been active before they participated in the project. Among the majority of those participants, who were already active, some participants were strongly active. Most of the interview partners took part in a youth exchange (21 persons), three persons each in the European voluntary service and in structured dialogue projects, two in mobilities for youth workers and one in a training course. The main project topics were the support of young people with disadvantages or disabilities (eight interview partners), participation (seven), interculturality (six), environment (four), Europe (three), digitalisation and leadership (one each).

16 interviewees had taken part in the RAY LTE research conference in Strasbourg.

More detailed anonymised individual profiles of the interviewees can be found here: https://www.researchyouth.net/lte.

Method of data collection

If possible, each interview partner was interviewed by the researcher who also did the previous three interviews. It was assumed that, through meeting three times for the interviews over a period of three years and in many cases also at the research conference in Strasbourg 2018, a trusting relationship had developed between the researcher and his/her interview partners. 21 interview partners were interviewed by the interviewer who had already done the previous interviews. 9 interviewees from two RAY LTE EXT partners were interviewed by other researchers. All researchers needed to be prepared for an interview by going through the three previous interviews of the interview partner and by summarising the main information in a table in order to be able to refer to that in the fourth interview:

- the basic data such as gender, age etc.²⁰;
- the initial situation before the project participation including the motivation to take part in the project;
- the values, attitudes, skills, knowledge and practice in terms of participation and citizenship and beyond mentioned in the three previous interviews as well as the respective learning effects resulting from project participation mentioned in the second and third interview.

According to the interview guidelines, the interviewer started with a short recollection with regard to the RAY LTE project and interviews between 2015 and 2018 and giving a general

¹⁹ For some interviewees this kind of information was not available.

gender; age; country of residence; studies; training/profession; project topic; activity type; project venue country; participants from; number of participants; interview setting; interview date; interview duration; participated in the research conference in Strasbourg

information about the purpose of the interview in, at the same time avoiding to create a perception of the interviewee, that it is socially desirable to mention long-term effects. Besides thanking the interviewee for taking part in the fourth interview, the interviewer should give him/her information about the procedure of the interview and assure him/her of the anonymisation and exclusive usage of the interview data for this research project.

In the sense of a narrative approach, the interviewees should look at their life course in a holistic way, describe what has happened since the last interview and what they are doing today, in particular, if they participate in civil society and democratic life. In this context, questions about the personal development and the educational and professional career, the engagement in civil society and political life and the European dimension of participation and citizenship were foreseen. Only towards the end of the interview, the interviewee should be asked about the connection between her/his participation and citizenship competence and practice today and her/his participation in the project seven to eight years ago. The interviewer should also refer to the project effects mentioned in the second and third interview and ask if they are still persistent. Additionally, the interviewee should be asked about his/her memories about the Strasbourg conference and his/her notion of being interviewed four times over a time period of seven to eight years.

Basically, the interviews should be implemented in a face-to-face setting, meeting common social research standards. If a face-to-face interview was not possible due to geographic reasons or restrictions related to the pandemic, alternatively an interview could be done online, preferably with video, thus ensuring a setting as close as possible to face-to-face. Finally, 14 interviews took place face-to-face and 16 online.

The interview should cover all topics addressed in the guidelines assuming that this could take up to 75 minutes but should not be longer. In average, the interviews lasted 56 minutes, the longest 105 minutes and the shortest 32 minutes.

A relaxed atmosphere was stated in all interviews with slight tenses once in a while in one interview. In all cases the flow of the conversation was fluent with hesitant phases in three cases. The majority of interview partners were (very) talkative, four persons partly monosyllabic and one person informative while dissecting almost each question. In seven interviews minor disturbances

from the surrounding or because of technical reasons appeared, but could be solved easily.

All interviews were recorded electronically and analysed according to the analysis guidelines provided by the Austrian researchers who coordinated the project at transnational level.

Data analysis

The analysis grid was basically structured in line with the content sections of the interview guidelines and started with the completion of the above-mentioned table with the basic data of the fourth interview (part "A"). Part "B" contained a summary of the first, second and third interview with a focus on the learning effects through the project with respect to participation and citizenship. The analysis of the fourth interview (part "C") was structured according to the following categories:

- (1) Engagement in society and politics project effects and changes due to other reasons
- (2) Personal development as well as educational and professional career project effects and changes due to other reasons
- (3) European dimension of participation and citizenship project effects and changes due to other reasons
- (4) Persistency of the project learning effects with respect to participation and citizenship competence and practice reported in previous interviews
- (5) General meaning the interview partner attributes to the project
- (6) Non-formal learning in the project
- (7) Spontaneous memories of the project, the Strasbourg conference and being interviewed
- (8) Brief impression of getting in contact with the interview partner and of the interview

The national researchers contracted by their National Agencies for conducting, translating and analysing the interviews were asked to define new categories if applicable and to develop the analysis further accordingly. These categories as well as all the analyses and contributions of the national researchers were discussed at a research meeting bringing together the results and their interpretations at transnational level. The researchers also added quotations of focal statements to the analysis in order to illustrate the main results in the transnational research report.

3.3 RESEARCH PARTNERS

Since RAY LTE EXT was a follow-up project of RAY LTE only the partners involved in the LTE project could potentially be partners of the RAY LTE EXT project. Six out of ten RAY LTE partners having interviewed project participants – in Austria, Czechia, Finland, Germany, Italy and Malta – decided to be part of the extension of the project; the other RAY LTE partners would have liked to join the project but did not have enough resources, e.g., because they were already involved in several other RAY research projects.

3.4 POLICY FRAMEWORK

According to the research interest in effects of projects of the youth chapter of the Erasmus+ programme (in the period of 2014-2020) on participation and citizenship competence and practice, the policy framework includes several policies and programme objectives referring to participation and active citizenship. While the policy framework was already drafted in the introduction, it is explained in this section in more detail.

In line with the provisions of the Lisbon Treaty to "encourage the participation of young people in democratic life in Europe" the Erasmus+ programme guide of 2015 (the year when the RAY LTE study started) formulated, among others, the challenge of the programme to develop social capital among young people as well as to empower young people and their ability to participate actively in society.²²

The "European Union Youth Strategy – Engaging, Connecting and Empowering young people", which has been adopted in 2018 (thus at the end of the RAY LTE research project), confirms the relevance of RAY PART and of extending RAY LTE. It is also the framework for the EU youth policy cooperation for the period 2019 to 2027. This policy cooperation "shall make the most of youth policy's potential. It fosters youth participation in democratic life; it also supports social and

civic engagement and aims to ensure that all young people have the necessary resources to take part in society."23 The term "engage" in the title of the youth strategy "aims towards a meaningful civic, economic, social, cultural and political participation of young people."24 Among other aims, the EU member states are invited to "foster the development of citizenship competencies, through citizenship education and learning strategies."25 With the Youth Goal 9 "Space and participation for all" the topic of participation is also represented in the 11 European Youth Goals, which were developed during a dialogue process in 2017 and 2018 - an initiative within the development of the youth strategy - involving young people from all over Europe.26

According to the programme guide for Erasmus+ 2024, the programme "is a key component supporting the objectives of the ... European Union Youth Strategy."27 The aims, "strengthening European identity and the participation of young people in democratic processes"28, are mentioned in the general objective of the programme and "participation in democratic life, common values and civic engagement" is a priority of the Erasmus+ Programme since 2021. "The Erasmus+ programme addresses the citizens' limited participation in democratic processes and their lack of knowledge about the European Union, and tries to help them overcome the difficulties in actively engaging and participating in their communities and in the Union's future."²⁹ The programme guide also refers to the Youth Participation Strategy, which "has been designed to provide a common framework and support the use of the Programme to foster youth participation in democratic life."30 This means, that "the primary stakeholders of this strategy are those who are involved in supporting the implementation of the programmes, so that they in turn can better support programme beneficiaries around youth participation, and improve the overall impact the programmes have on youth participation in democratic life."31 Among others, primary stakeholders are National Agencies of the European youth programmes, youth information providers and youth organisations.

²¹ European Union, 2007.

²² European Commission, 2015, p. 5.

²³ European Union, 2018.

²⁴ ibid.

²⁵ ibid.

Also, the youth goals 1 (Connecting EU with youth), 7 (Quality learning), 3 (Inclusive societies) and 6 (Moving rural youth forward) are closely linked to participation.

²⁷ European Commission, 2024, p. 4.

²⁸ ibid, p. 5.

²⁹ ibid, p 10.

³⁰ ibid.

³¹ SALTO Participation & Information, 2020, p. 30.

3.5 THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK³²

Participation

Participation, as understood in the RAY studies on participation and citizenship competence and practice (RAY LTE, RAY PART and RAY LTE EXT), can take place in a broad spectrum of domains. It can be participation in society at large, simply by actively doing more for the society than one is obliged to, e.g., by living in an ecological way and using public transport, avoiding pollution and waste, minimising CO₂ emission or by actively supporting people in need etc. This could be referred to 'participation in public life' - a term frequently used - in a sense that it is in the 'third sector', thus distinct from government and business, but it could also be referred to as 'personalised' or 'individualised (political) participation'. In this respect, it could also be referred to as 'participation in civil society'. While 'civil society' can also be understood as the collective of non-governmental organisations, institutions and movements engaging in order to contribute to society at large, this term is understood for this study in a broader sense, thus participation in society as described above. Participation can also take the form of 'participation in political life' or 'political participation', which can be conventional political participation (voting in elections or running for an office) or non-conventional political participation, such as participating in demonstrations, signing petitions or collecting signatures for petitions, donating to a social, humanitarian, environmental or political cause etc. A term frequently used in policies is 'participation in democratic life', which overlaps with political participation but also can be interpreted in a broader sense, referring to any behaviour or action contributing to a democratic society, such as fostering values and principles inherent to democracy, such as equal rights, freedom of opinion and expression, freedom of assembly, non-violence, respect for human rights etc.

Citizenship

There is no single and universally valid definition of citizenship³³: constructions of citizenship are influenced by specific historical, social, cultural

and political contexts. The various elements and dimensions of citizenship can well overlap, especially in regions sharing histories and cultures. This is the case for countries in Europe, which share a common cultural heritage and history to a relatively high degree. Nevertheless, also in this region notions of citizenship differ noticeably.³⁴

A literature review on concepts of citizenship allows a consolidation into the following core features of citizenship:³⁵

A central conclusion emerging from the literature is that active participation in society is inherent to citizenship, although authors differ in the scope of active participation, i.e., to which extent it implies political participation, participation in civil society, at the workplace or in private life.³⁶ This shows a direct link between participation as outlined above and citizenship.

Citizenship implies a membership in a community with a sense of identity with that community and shared values. While the scope of such a community would traditionally be limited to a state, it can also have a local, regional, national or international dimension. Furthermore, these different dimensions can overlap and result in multiple identities.

Citizenship involves rights and obligations within a community, which are equal for all members of the community, regulating the relationships between members of the community as well as between citizens and the community. These rights and obligations, which can have both a formal as well as an informal quality, provide for people living together in a community in a peaceful and constructive way.

As indicated above – active participation being inherent to citizenship – citizenship implies participation in community life, which can be related to different domains such as participation in political life, in civil society at large, at work and in private life, with friends or in the family – the latter linking the socialisation of children in families as well as the relations in private life to community life.³⁷

In view of this, 'active citizenship' could be considered to be a pleonasm. Similarly, this is the

³² This sub-chapter has been taken from the RAY LTE research report, since it is fully relevant also for RAY LTE EXT.

³³ See also Crick, 2000, p. 3; Marshall, 1977.

³⁴ Hoskins & Mascherini, 2008.

³⁵ Fennes, 2009.

Bîrzéa, 2005; Cogan, 2000; Holford & van der Veen, 2003; Kubow, Grossman, & Ninomiya, 2000; Veldhuis, 1997.

³⁷ Fennes, 2009.

case for 'democratic citizenship', since free participation in a non-democratic entity would, most likely, not be possible. Nevertheless, these terms are used in this study since they are used in the respective policies.³⁸

Fennes (2009) proposes a three-dimensional reframing of citizenship that could be relevant for citizenship education and learning, conceptualising citizenship in terms of three interrelated dimensions with community membership linking them:

- citizenship as a way of being referring to an identity as a citizen with values, beliefs, attitudes and a view of life and the world;
- citizenship as a way of relating relating to other members of the community and to the community as such;
- citizenship as a way of acting citizenship as a practice.

Citizenship competence

In accordance with Hoskins and others, competence is defined as a "complex combination of knowledge, skills, understanding, values, attitudes and desire which lead to effective, embodied human action in the world, in a particular domain." Furthermore, it can be defined as "the ability to apply knowledge, know-how and skills in a habitual or changing situation." ⁴⁰

Models of citizenship competence found in the literature have the following in common:

- they refer to knowledge, skills, attitudes and values – sometimes also using different terms such as awareness, understanding, insight, aptitudes, capacities, abilities, dispositions, virtues;
- they refer to knowledge, which is required for action and empowers for active participation, thus practical knowledge;
- they refer to skills, which are directly or indirectly necessary for active participation, at least in political life;

 they refer to core values, attitudes and principles such freedom, equality, solidarity, democracy and the rule of law.⁴¹

In line with the reviewed literature on this subject⁴², knowledge, skills, values and attitudes as four main areas and complemented by identity⁴³, were operationalised in concrete indicators for the RAY LTE study. The identity of the individual is taken into account, specifically looking into the sense of national identity of the respondents⁴⁴ as well as of their allegiance to their community, their country, the European Union, Europe and beyond.

Citizenship practice

In the area of citizenship practice, habits and activities connected to being an active citizen are explored, such as voting, participating in a peaceful demonstration, signing a petition etc. represents political participation. Keeping oneself informed about social and political affairs, discussing social and political issues, living in an environmentally friendly way, volunteering in the interest of the community, engaging in civil society organisations or acting as citizen responsibly in the closer or wider communities they feel being part of etc. all represent other ways of participation in society. As for political participation, conventional and non-conventional political participation are taken into account⁴⁵. Conventional political participation includes voting and running for an office. Non-conventional political participation aims at activities such as signing a petition, participating in demonstrations, making donations etc.

The outlined theory helps to capture the very complex phenomena of participation, active citizenship and citizenship competence. The development of these has to be seen as a life-long and life-wide process, which includes a variety of influences at play. Therefore, the participation in an E+/YiA project has to be taken as one potential influence alongside others.⁴⁶

³⁸ The term 'active citizenship' is used in policies of the European Union. The term 'democratic citizenship' is used in policies of the Council of Europe. A comparison of respective policy documents shows that the meaning of the two terms are synonymous to a high degree (Fennes, 2009)

³⁹ Hoskins & Crick, 2008a, p. 4; cf. Crick in Hoskins & Crick, 2008b, p. 313.

⁴⁰ Tissot, 2004, p. 47.

Fennes, 2009; Hoskins & Campbell, 2008; Hoskins et al., 2006; Hoskins & Mascherini, 2008.

⁴² Fennes, 2009; Hoskins et. al, 2006; Hoskins et. al, 2008; Hoskins in Hoskins & Crick, 2008.

⁴³ Hoskins & Crick, 2008, p. 8.

⁴⁴ cf. Hoskins & Crick, 2008, p. 8.

⁴⁵ cf. Marquart-Pyatt, 2013; Hoskins & Mascherini, 2008.

⁴⁶ The above text has been taken from Bárta et al., 2021.

3.6 LIMITATIONS OF THE STUDY

Logically, most of the limitations of the RAY LTE study also apply to this extension of it⁴⁷; they are summarised and adapted to the new study and presented here in bullet point style:

- It has to be taken into account that as described in the sub-chapter 3.2 – the overall conditions prevented to include especially participants of projects with a focus on citizenship and participation in the study in 2015.
- It is assumed that young people who have already been active (and maybe are higher educated and interested in certain topics) are more willing to take part in an interview. This seems to be confirmed in the study, because the sample description (see sub-chapter 3.2) shows, that the majority of interviewees were already active in society and political life before they took part in the project. The assumed effect increases with each round of interviews and is highly suitable to create a one-sided, positively selected sample, in which interview partners who are particularly interested in the topic, better educated or - in the case of this study already engaged in society and politics, are disproportionately represented.
- Possible effects on the interviewees through being interviewed repeatedly about participation and citizenship, for example an increased reflexivity on or a fostered appreciation of participation and citizenship, might have developed. A tendency to answer questions in a socially desirable way cannot be ruled out completely.
- Different reflective, linguistic and communication skills of interview partners are likely to have an influence on the participants' statements.
- For the one or other interview partner it might have been a challenge to distinguish between effects of the project and of other events and occurrences in their lives.
- The work of the interviewers from different countries might have been influenced by potentially different understandings of citizenship, participation and other concepts shaped by different social, cultural and political traditions.
- Due to the transnational implementation, a conceptual blurring of the study is considered to be inevitable to a certain degree.

These limitations have to be considered when analysing and interpreting the study results. The

limitation of the RAY LTE project, that collecting data one and three years after the project participation can only be considered as a first approach to long-term effects, became obsolete with the fourth interview seven to eight years after the project.

3.7 STRUCTURE OF THE RESEARCH REPORT

In the executive summary, the context, research interest and findings of the study as well as the recommendations derived from the findings are summarised (chapter 1).

Since the RAY LTE EXT study has to be seen in the context with two other research projects being the extension of one of those studies, the report starts with illustrating this context and summarising the main aims and results of these two studies. Furthermore, the reasons to extend the RAY LTE study are presented (chapter 2). This is followed by the presentation of the research questions, the research design, the sample, the methodological approach, the research partners, the policy and theoretical framework as well as the limitations of the RAY LTE EXT study (chapter 3).

Chapter four on the results starts with the analysis of the answers to the main research question about the persistency of the project learning effects, which the interview partners had mentioned in the second and third interviews. After that, the report shows the results related to the European dimension of the persistent project learning effects and outlines the impact of other experiences and events on participation and citizenship competence and practice. The general meaning the interviewees attributed to their project and the project effects on their personal development as well as on their educational and professional career conclude the section with the main results. The sub-chapter 'Further results' contains the motivation of the interview partners to take part in the project, their spontaneous memory of the project and the RAY LTE research conference, their perception of the non-formal learning in the projects and the notion of having been interviewed four times for the research project.

Last but not least, main recommendations are presented as result of a synopsis of the findings of the research projects RAY LTE, RAY PART and RAY LTE EXT.

⁴⁷ ibid., p. 144.

4 — RESULTS OF THE RAY LTE EXT STUDY

4.1 PERSISTENT PROJECT EFFECTS ON PARTICIPATION AND CITIZENSHIP COMPETENCE AND PRACTICE

In the second and third interview of the RAY LTE study (one year as well as two to three years after the project) the interviewees reported their learning with respect to participation and citizenship competence and practice. In order to find out about the persistency of these learning effects seven to eight years after the project this research interest is formulated in the second specific research question - the interviewees were asked about this again in the fourth interview within the extension of the RAY LTE study. The extent of persistency is also an important element when answering the first specific research question focusing on a more general contribution of the participation in E+/YiA projects on participation and citizenship competence and practice. The answer to this question includes possible new views on the projects they participated in, which came to the minds of the interviewees only with the time distance and possible changes of previously expressed effects.

With two thirds of the interview partners confirming that one or several learning effect(s) of their project participation with respect to participation and citizenship are still meaningful to them seven to eight years after their participation, the fourth interviews provide strong evidence for E+/ YiA projects as learning environment exhibiting important long-term effects on participation and citizenship competence and practice.

Five interviewees do not refer to the learning effects mentioned in the second and third interview, but describe a learning through the project, which they perceived only from the view seven to eight years later. A few interviewees are hesitant with regard to project effects, which are still meaningful to them, or do not see such effects at all. One interviewee changed her opinion expressed in the second and third interview

completely and described Erasmus+ projects as counterproductive in the fourth interview.

As outlined in sub-chapter 2.1, all competence areas related to participation and citizenship were developed through E+/YiA projects according to what the interview partners reported one year after the project. And for most interviewees these effects were still important two to three years after the project. The effects confirmed by the interviewees in the fourth interviews also cover all competence areas with the area of skills standing out due to its frequent mention. Interview partners report a broad scope of social, communication and intercultural skills, language and practical skills and - most frequently - different types of management skills such as the ability to work in a team effectively, to lead a group, to organise a project or event on international as well as on local level etc.

"" wanted to create a system, to promote information about Europe; here [in the interviewees local and rural environment] they are not exactly Europe." (IT8)

"It gave me lots of purely practical skills, such as writing up a project, debate, explain." (CZ4)

⁶⁶Yes, I have learnt to be more organised and got skills to organise, for example, events." (FI1)

**I think that project taught me that there's always another way of seeing things ... learning to see things from another point of view." (IT2)

⁶⁶I developed social skills and assertiveness since during the project the group had to work together and find solutions to carry out the activities." (MT1) Within the (inter)personal field, the interviewees profited from the project, for example with respect to dealing with prejudices, solving conflicts in a constructive way, being more organised, thinking critically, being able to analyse situations and different perspectives, tackling the complexity of life etc.

⁶⁶I also feel that through these projects I am able to take more decisions." (MT2)

Communicating unpleasant information or even disagreeing with people are tracked back from an interview partner to the project very clearly. Furthermore, presenting ideas, speaking in public, compromising or communicating in a group are mentioned by other interviewees.

66 I do not fear the communication trouble as much as I feared it years ago." (CZ2)

Within the area of values and attitudes, the interview partners report different project effects, which are still important for them: an intensified interest in social and political topics such as human rights; a renewed appreciation of democracy – due to hosting countries, which do not fully comply to democratic principles – and of values inherent to democracy; a fostered awareness for the importance of participation; and last but not least a strengthened interest in and appreciation of Europe.

⁶⁶Yes, the project has influenced me to the extent that I still see the topic very critically: it raised my awareness for how post-colonialism is reproduced." (AT2)

⁶⁶Others brought up 'feminist Germany' during my EVS in Russia. This shaped my view on the value of equality, it was the reason to think about equality." (DE7)

Interview partners still recognise the empowering effect through the project; they describe it with strong expressions such as:

66 I felt empowered after each of those projects."
(CZ2)

⁶⁶You suddenly know that there are no limits to what you can do." (CZ4)

⁶⁶The project was not 100% the triggering factor, but it was very important, it was extremely encouraging." (DE5)

"The realisation of the project was an 'aha moment' ... Yes, that was definitely a very formative moment for me and also the discussions around it." (DE8)

"I gained confidence that there are no limits! ... I recall what it was to be a young teenager then and it gave confidence and maybe a boost to life that 'Hey, you can do many things!' I believe that many others who participated have got similar positive vibrations in their minds and gained certitude to act in their own lives." (FI3)

Concerning knowledge, the interviewees recall the fields of topics they reported in the second and third interviews. They mentioned knowledge about Europe, in particular the different countries, their political systems and how they function as well as their cultures; knowledge about the work and functioning of NGOs; wider insights into public matters, local legislations and procedures of administrations; environment, societal phenomena like the agenda setting effect; project management and non-formal learning methods.

⁶⁶During my EVS, I have learned a lot at the municipal level. We turned this dump into a garden, so to speak, and for that we simply needed the appropriate materials, we needed permission to paint the walls and to hold workshops with young people." (DE8)

According to the findings of the RAY LTE study, several participants became more active in participation practice, predominantly in social life and society in general, as consequence of the project participation. Around one third of the former participants taking part in the fourth interview described effects with respect to their practical engagement. They mostly remembered that their engagement already existing before the project participation was fostered, for example,

through getting to know other very engaged people, through specific offers for participation by the supporting organisation or through the idea to transfer project activities to the local level at home. They called the project effect "booster", "reinforcement" or "push". For others, the engagement was influenced on content level, for example one interviewee was enabled through more in-depth information about the topic he already was engaged for to act differently in his engagement; he still reported this improvement in his voluntary work in the fourth interview although he had changed the field of engagement in the meantime. Others were encouraged through the project to start being an active person, to organise events, to stand up for their rights or to approach others with work-related issues.

Of course, this does not mean, that the interview partners are still practising the same activities, which were fostered or initiated through the project or that they are active to the same extent. But for some of the interviewees it meant that the project was the starting point for being engaged. They were more or less engaged in the following years, for example less engaged in intensive phases of their studies, when starting a job – maybe in a new town – or when founding a family, and for example more engaged, when having been settled in a new place.

4.2 EUROPEAN DIMENSION OF PERSISTENT PROJECT EFFECTS ON PARTICIPATION AND CITIZENSHIP COMPETENCE AND PRACTICE

In varying degrees of intensity, the European Union and its values are important to and appreciated by all but one interview partner. Examples for a strong commitment come from two Austrian interviewees: One young man, who was born in the German speaking part of Italy, grew up in Germany and has lived in Austria for a long time, said, that Europe is important to him, because "we as Europeans approach topics of course from a European point of view. Today the global player is not Austria, Italy or Germany, but Europe." Another young man from Lithuania who came to Austria only some years ago is veritably enthusiastic about Europe, the European Union and democracy, because his parents never stopped believing in democracy when Lithuania still belonged to the Soviet Union. Furthermore, the interviewees have a feeling of being European and citizens of the European Union, have knowledge about European topics, appreciate the free trade and especially the free movement in the European Union:

⁶⁶The Schengen area is just awesome. We are already used to this, but nevertheless it is very valuable." (AT14)

Sometimes the interviewees are aware of their appreciation for the European Union, but not of the reasons:

⁶⁶In general, I am very thankful that the European Union exists. I like to be here. ... Damn difficult to say. I can't answer to this ... I would like to make it more clear to myself, which matters I take for granted. I can't tell." (FI1)

Two thirds of the interview partners reported in the fourth interview, that the already strong European dimension had been even enhanced through the project and that they still remembered this effect. They followed up on what they said in the third interview, that they consider Erasmus+ projects ideal to gain knowledge about Europe, get to know other European countries, become motivated to go abroad for studying, working and living abroad, become more interested in foreign languages, face different realities, exchange with people from other countries and - most importantly - foster European cohesion and identity. This was reflected in many statements, some of which will be highlighted. A very strong effect was expressed by two interview partners from Austria, who took part in several Erasmus+ projects of a youth theatre, became both screenwriters and did all interviews together. They said, that there is a European dimension in all their film projects due to their Erasmus+ projects:

"We really heard numerous different opinions. And from these experiences, we do not only know the bigger picture, but we faced it. So, these projects were formative for us. This is of course mentioned in our pitch documents." (AT13)

⁶⁶We really emotionally perceived and experienced Europe – besides the intellectual understanding. We got a strong influence from the Erasmus+ projects with regard to Europe." (AT12)

The next statements also demonstrate very strong project effects on becoming aware of the free movement in the Schengen area, on developing a much more differentiated view on Europe, that goes beyond a one-sided fixation on the country of origin, as well as on an emerging European identity and solidarity of the participants. Moreover, interviewees wanted to share and promote information about Europe on local level:

- "You get a different feeling for what Europe actually means. When you meet participants who are doing an EVS and don't come from the EU, you realise what it actually means to be able to travel freely as a European, to be able to move freely, to be able to cross a border without needing a visa and not to think: Am I allowed to do that at all?" (DE4)
- **Even though the youth exchange only lasted one week, so much could be achieved, it strengthened the view of Europe. In the project I got insights into other countries, which made me more open to politics, to look at things more broadly and not just Germany-centred. I became aware that there is not only Germany, but also Europe. In the project, we learned not only to look at things from our own national perspective, but also to look beyond our own country to understand all the political structures." (DE5)
- "I think it opened my eyes to different styles of living within the EU, and you got a chance to meet people to understand that it's not so different than here in Finland. You got enlightened a lot and got an important touch of internationality, which is extremely useful." (FI3)
- ⁶⁶I think that all these Erasmus projects and youth exchanges are really important. In my view, these really build European citizenship in people, and also the feeling of solidarity with Europe and with the European Union. So, I think this is extremely important for formation of civil society." (CZ2)

And even an interviewee who was not that sure about the project effect, clearly saw the important function of the project: ⁶⁶ Maybe the experiences in the project influenced a bit my view on certain topics, which were discussed there and my view on other European countries ... My contact points with European issues were the Erasmus+ projects." (AT14)

Some interviewees only dared to study or work abroad because of their project experience; the projects also fostered the interest of interview partners to travel and live abroad, whereas only two interview partners connected their strong gain of language skills to their decision to go to a foreign country.

- ⁶⁶Maybe it has an impact to the willingness to go abroad to work. I'm interested in the idea. I want to see more the world and do international work." (F13)
- ⁶⁶Well, it increased in any way interests in other cultures. It has enriched own interests towards different cultures, habits and foods. To be more international and encouraged to travelling ... I'm more open to the idea that I could work abroad." (F19)

The basis of this European dimension can be seen in the intercultural learning, which is mentioned by some interviewees: the getting to know of and a fostered interest in other cultures, the overcoming of shyness towards people from other countries, the breaking-down of prejudices and the development of understanding of and respect for these other cultures:

- Through interacting with people from a different country with whom I lived together for a week, I feel that I learned how to live with people from different cultures in Europe." (MT3)
- "But I also learned a lot about living and working together with other people, especially from other nations. That was such a big topic at the EVS. And also, how to deal with prejudices against both me and my nation, as well as prejudices that one has against others." (DE4)

"Yes, definitely" or "Yes, of course" was the answer of a big majority of interviewees when they were asked if they would vote in the elections of the European Parliament in June 2024. They

based this on their believe in European citizenship respectively in Europe as a space to share values and opportunities or saw voting as a civic duty, as part of their culture or as an obviousness. For only a few interviewees, the decision to vote still depended on finding a suitable candidate or party; they were rather sure to vote, but still had to inform themselves.

The interview partners were also asked if they are still in contact with people from their project, in how many projects they participated and if they led projects on their own. All in all, the answers show a strong connectedness of the interviewees with Erasmus+. About half of the interviewees were still in contact with former project comrades via social media seven to eight years after the project. About one third of the interviewees took part in several Erasmus+ projects and five interview partners in international trainings of their NGO, international sports activities or discussion events on European topics.⁴⁸ Five interviewees developed and/or guided international youth projects, two of them as full- or parttime employees; the other three stopped doing it because they had to focus on their studies or preferred a job promising financial security. One other interview partner was designing and implementing a European project within her research activities and one informed herself about funding possibilities in order to do research on how her work is done in other countries.

4.3 IMPACT OF OTHER EXPERIENCES AND EVENTS ON PARTICIPATION AND CITIZENSHIP COMPETENCE AND PRACTICE

The third specific research question refers to other experiences and events during the life course, which might have had an effect on the interviewees' participation and citizenship competence and practice.

While living, studying and working abroad are most often mentioned as a strong influence on participation competence and practice, a smaller number of interview partners refer to their involvement in other youth projects in other countries. The feeling of being European is for example fostered through being employed in an international venture. Noticeably, three Italian interview

partners left their native town, because it was not possible for them to find a job. They went abroad and tried to integrate in a foreign country, but returned, because this was more difficult than expected. Back home they started to become engaged in society and realised, that this was difficult as well, because in the local environment people know each other – with limited space for anonymity - observe the engagement of others and comment on or react to it. This has an influence on such an engagement - potentially in a positive way but as well in a discouraging way, because one's engagement might be challenged and needs to be justified. This experience had an impact on their participation and citizenship competence and practice.

Another big cluster of influences on the interview partners participation and citizenship competence and practice could be titled 'politics'. It contains almost exclusively statements about started or fostered engagement as reaction to negatively perceived occurrences, for example, the corruption scandal in the European Parliament in December 2022, the conspiracy theorists doubting the democratic order of the state during the corona pandemic, the invasion of the Russian army in Ukraine or observing how former democratic states become more and more authoritarian – all this resulted in a fostered importance of values inherent to democracy and human rights.

Furthermore, there is one statement stressing the self-enforcement of one's own engagement in civil society (CZ1).

While the above-mentioned experiences and events occurred primarily after the project participation, 'experiences in the origin family' before the project participation could be the title of a further category resulting from the statements of two interview partners. The international circle of friends of her parents founded the interest in and the appreciation of Europe, its different countries and cultures of one interview partner (AT10). The negative experience of "challenges in childhood, feelings of inequality and injustices ... have given the most powerful influence on my motivation to guarantee that nobody else will face the same issues." (FI11)

For one interview partner a positively perceived political decision, the freedom of movement within the Schengen area, had a motivating effect on her participation competence and practice,

⁴⁸ One interviewee meets from time to time with other local participants; one interviewee applied for Erasmus funding for studies abroad.

although the Schengen agreement was already concluded in 1985. The importance the interviewee attributes to this occurrence – she mentioned it in all four interviews – must be seen in her origin as German speaking citizen of South Tyrol (Italy), the strong connection of her and her family to Austria and the possibility of crossing the border very easily since then.

There are also statements of some interview partners describing the relation between the project and other influences on participation and citizenship competence and practice. One interview partner sees them equally important, another one says, that the "project experiences fade against many other new experiences." (AT14)

4.4 GENERAL MEANING PARTICIPANTS ATTRIBUTE TO THEIR PROJECT

Eight interview partners described the general meaning of the project, when they were asked about their spontaneous memory of the project in general. Beyond that, all interview partners were also asked explicitly about their perception of the general meaning of the project for them. An impressive majority of the sample - 24 interviewees - described the project as an important experience, including 17 interview partners who assessed the importance equally as other influences, and 7 interview partners, who attributed a rather strong general meaning to their project. Two interviewees are not sure, if the effects are due to the project, and again two said, that the project was interesting, but had no further impact on their lives. One interview partner expressed the opinion, that the first of a series of projects was the most inspiring one (the interviewee took part in eleven projects). One interviewee expressed the opinion, that Erasmus+ Youth projects are counterproductive - this interviewee changed her opinion completely in comparison to the preceding two interviews.

The perception of a rather strong general meaning of the project is shown by the following quotations:

The fact that the contest [the project was designed like a contest] went well for me, and despite some things not really going well I still managed to overcome them, that is the feeling you have inside you forever, and when challenges change in the future, this feeling is still there, that you will manage." (CZ4)

**The project ... was very important, it was extremely encouraging." (DE5)

66 The EVS has still a formative influence and shaped the personality. Many things are still present for me." (DE8)

**It [the project] had the biggest impact on project management competences and personal development." (IT8)

Well, if I remember it now, we organised the whole project by ourselves, especially the welcoming of partners to Finland. Of course, I was already then active and participated in many activities ... I gained confidence that there are no limits!" (FI3)

⁶⁶But now I realise that, oh my god, how big the project which I participated in was A meaningful project which I remember warmly, and it's for sure one reason why I still cooperate with the supervisor of the project." (FI11)

The interview partners assessing the projects' general meaning as important express, that the project "had a lasting meaning on me" (AT2), that "you can see where that [the project] has led you years after" (AT13) or that "all these effects have become self-evidence" (FI2).

4.5 PROJECT EFFECTS ON PERSONAL DEVELOPMENT AND ON THE EDUCATIONAL AND PROFESSIONAL CAREER

Within the framework of an epistemological interest, in the fourth interview the interview partners were also asked about the meaning they attribute to their project with regard to their personal development as well as to their educational and professional career.

From the answers of almost two thirds of the interviewees could be seen, that the project had more or less an influence on their personal

development. This ranges from gaining knowledge about oneself, becoming more open, reducing fears of contact and prejudices, being encouraged to dare something to a fostered self-confidence. The interviewees talk about getting out of their comfort zone, going beyond their borders, overcoming their shyness and acquiring life competences like flexibility, decision-taking as well as awareness.

⁶⁶To some extent, I have always been open-minded, but it was reinforced by the project." (DE7)

66 I have become so confident that I feel ok if I do not agree with others and that I can stand by my own values without any problem now – due to the project." (MT1)

"Yes, it was a kind of social rehearsal. ... Social strength, it is more about personality that is important, not language skills and other stuff. (FI2)

⁶⁶I recall what it was to be a young teenager then and it gave confidence and maybe a boost to life that 'Hey, you can do many things!' I believe that many others who participated have got similar positive vibrations in their minds and gained certitude to act in their own lives." (FI3)

⁶⁶It acted as a springboard towards my personal growth." (IT2)

"The EVS has still a formative influence and shaped the personality." (DE8)

More than half of the interviewees report, that the project participation had an effect on their decision for a certain study subject or professional field respectively that they developed skills and acquired knowledge in the project, which enabled them to do their job in a better way. Although not all interviewees answered the question, it can be stated, that at least seven of them chose an occupation in the field of youth work, teaching, developmental work or work serving public interests, because on one hand they perceived their

activity in the project as fulfilling, and on the other hand, they valued their experiences in the project so much, that they wanted to enable also other people to have these experiences. This is expressed in the following two quotations:

certainly also influenced by my work in the youth centre there in France during my EVS, where I also worked with elementary school students most of the time." (DE8)

Would perhaps be somewhere else today [not doing developmental work for an NGO], and I am extremely glad that I stumbled upon these opportunities and used them, because I know that it gave me really a lot." (CZ2)

Some interviewees take a double-track approach like a Finnish project participant working fulltime as an electrician and part-time as an assistant in the youth house (FI6), or the interviewee, who changed to her job as software developer after ten years in the youth field, but still creates a website on topics and tools about non-formal education for teachers and sees it as a way to continue to work in Erasmus+ (IT2). Another interview partner profited so much about professional orientation from Erasmus+ projects that he himself designed and implemented successfully own projects on this topic. Through doing the accounting for the project he got interested in this topic and finally decided to become an accountant to be financially secure, but never stopped to pursue the topic 'Europe', his passion, in other contexts (AT3).

At least three of the interview partners were motivated through the project to study/work abroad, in an international environment or to focus on the topic of Europe in their work. This applies to two friends who did several Erasmus+ projects in the context of a youth theatre and realised their dream to become screenwriters, although this is not easy. They always have film projects with the topic Europe; in the fourth interview they say:

⁶⁶The E+ projects influenced our understanding of European identity, our understanding of politics, and because we are political persons it influenced persistently our work." (AT12, AT13)

For another interviewee "the project and my project experiences made it easier ... to go abroad to study. ... Speaking foreign languages and switching between different languages was nothing new for me. That's why I did not have as many fears of contact as others." (DE5)

Two further interviewees combined the educational with the international/European aspect. One of them did her Bachelor degree in social pedagogy, wrote her thesis about international youth work and Erasmus+ programmes and works in a regional youth work centre, which organises Erasmus+ projects:

"It is possible that if I would not have gone there I would not have become a social pedagogist or work with international topics. I realised the meaning or impact a bit later ... Hey, I have experienced it and could work with the same kind of things. It showed that I can be a meaningful adult for young people in the international field." (FI11)

At least six interviewees profit from skills and knowledge they acquired in the project, for example project management competences, communication, intercultural and educational skills as well as knowledge about non-formal learning. Partly, the interviewees consider their learning as decisive for their work, for example an interviewee who has completed a Bachelor's degree in Psychology and who works in the field of victim support:

**Interpersonal skills developed due to the project have opened opportunities for me, which – had I not participated – I would not have had" (MTI)

Another interview partner who works as a special education teacher describes the project as

"… a sort of training gym to understand how to adapt tools … I learned to manage everything. I can grasp their [the students'] trust … They are nice with me, while with other teachers they get bored and they do not pay attention. I never need to capture their attention … then I realised that this was a first step I started with the project." (IT9)

One interviewee uses "teamwork regularly in my part-time job" (MT3) and another one "learned how to communicate better with people of different cultures in my work where I deal with many foreigners. The impact of these projects was very large. I also feel that through these projects I am able to take more decisions." (MT2)

4.6 FURTHER RESULTS

4.6.1 MOTIVATION TO TAKE PART IN THE PROJECT

With two thirds, a vast majority of interview partners took part in the project because they were interested in a certain topic the project was about. The interviewees report of many different socio-political topics like global south, leadership, protection of environment, youth rights, the situation of specific groups with fewer opportunities, the work of specific NGOs or professional orientation. Several interviewees wanted to get to know different learning methods, for example non-formal learning or creative tools and approaches like theatre or graphic novel.

Half of the interviewees wanted to go abroad, get to know different European countries, gain international contacts and exchange with participants from different cultures.

The aim to work with specific groups of young people with fewer opportunities was mentioned twice, the development of one's own personality three times and the improvement of one's language skills and receiving information about jobs twice each.

Five different interviewees also mention, that the project organisers were still searching for participants, that they had heard from friends about the project (and therefore took part in the project) or that they took part, because the EVS was free of charge.

4.6.2 SPONTANEOUS MEMORY OF THE ERASMUS+ YOUTH IN ACTION PROJECT AND MEMORY OF THE RAY LTE CONFERENCE IN STRASBOURG

The encounter and exchange with participants from other countries was the most often mentioned spontaneous memory of the project in the

⁴⁹ See Bárta et al. 2021, p. 54.

⁵⁰ Böhler et al 2021.

fourth interview.⁴⁹ In accordance with the main feedback in the third interview and in line with known effects of international youth projects⁵⁰, the participants appreciated to get to know the ideas of people with different cultural backgrounds and took the chance to exchange and network.

Some interviewees referred to single events during the project, which were mostly linked to emotions, for example disappointment about cancelling a programme activity or having fallen in love with another participant.

As a spontaneus memory, eight interview partners referred to the general meaning of the project, with four persons speaking about a life-changing experience, one about learning and one about an interesting, but not formative experience; one interview partner completely changed her view since the third interview and expressed a very critical attitude towards the project. Two participants mentioned the project topic, which in both cases was the topic of participation; this topic was also remembered spontaneously in the third interview.

A general comparison of the spontaneous memories in the third and fourth interview suggests the interpretation, that over time the spontaneous memories tend to refer either to single events or to the project as a whole.

The conference in May 2018 in Strasbourg took place after the second interview and aimed at discussing the preliminary findings with project participants having been interviewed twice, project leaders/team members as well as researchers and representatives of E+/YiA National Agencies involved in the RAY LTE study. 16 out of the 30 interview partners of the fourth interview had taken part in this conference. In the third⁵¹ and fourth interview, these interviewees still remembered their experiences during the Strasbourg conference and talked about a "great" (FI9), "impressive" (FI1) or "cool" (AT10, AT14) experience, also mentioning the visit of the European Parliament, meetings with non-profit initiatives in Strasbourg and the town itself. The discussions about the preliminary findings were only remembered by a few participants spontaneously; they contributed to a better understanding of the research project (FI11), were difficult to understand (FI1) or brought up similarities between participants from different countries – "that is when I felt a sense of being European." (MT1)

4.6.3 PERCEPTION OF NON-FORMAL LEARNING

There is strong evidence found from the RAY PART project that the non-formal methods and approaches used in the researched projects are successful in fostering participation and citizenship competence and practice⁵². Therefore, the interviewees were also asked how they benefited from the non-formal learning approach in the projects.⁵³ Some of the twelve interviewees answering this question learned about non-formal learning methods in the projects and all of them appreciated them and profited from them. A considerable number of the twelve interviewees also used and uses these methods in their own work.

"It made me understand how effective ... non-for-mal activities are versus formal ones: you have to get your hands dirty within the activities in order to know each other. Through the games and the activities, you can understand what people are thinking specifically, what they feel ... it was useful in my work life, I used these methodologies with youngsters." (IT8)

The interviewees also mentioned some educational approaches, settings and means, which mainly triggered their learning, first of all the field of interaction between people (from different backgrounds), dialogue, communication, group work and "how to listen to others, even if they hold different beliefs." (MT3)

66 I developed social skills and assertiveness when during the project the group had to work together and find solutions to carry out the activities." (MT1)

Furthermore, encouragement and support, art work and humour/irony were mentioned.

⁵¹ ibid, p. 56f.

⁵² Fennes, Gadinger, 2021a.

 $^{^{\}rm 53}\,$ Since this question was not of main interest it was not asked in all interviews.

4.6.4 NOTION OF HAVING BEEN INTER-VIEWED FOUR TIMES FOR THE RESEARCH PROJECT

Like in the third interview, the interview partners were asked in the fourth interview how it was to have been interviewed several times and - like in the third interview - all perceived the interviews as an exclusively positive experience and a majority highlighted the reflective effect of the interviews. Within the reflection on the main question on the persistency of the project effects on participation and citizenship, the interview partners became aware of the consistency and the differences between their statements in 2015/2016 and in 2023, and of how much they are engaging right now (AT14). Initially, partly sceptical interviewees understood that "Erasmus+ projects have a longterm impact which one may not realise just after the project" (MT2) and that "with the distance ... you can see where that has led you years later" (AT12).

The interviewees also expressed their appreciation for reflecting in general, because there are only "rare possibilities to reflect otherwise" (DE7). They found it interesting to compare the situation in Europe or their personal situation today with the situation eight years before. Partly, the reflection was perceived as "a tough therapy" (CZ4), which pushed them to face if one's former expectations became true, or as an "inside moment" (IT5) being overwhelmed by looking back on one's life. One interview partner had the feeling, that he "got equally as much from these interview sessions as the researchers from my answers." (FI11) Some participants found it worth supporting the interviews because they might help to improve Erasmus+ projects.

Supporting the research process, being interested in it and being part of a long-term research project were other aspects of the exclusively positive perceived interviews, which were also mentioned in the third interview. In contrary to the first interview, nobody reported to have been nervous or afraid of maybe challenging questions.⁵⁴

⁵⁴ See Bárta et al. 2021, p. 53ff.

5 — RECOMMENDATIONS

In the interviews one year as well as two to three years after the project, the interview partners mentioned many effects of their project participation on participation competence and practice. They also described how the learning in the projects took place, which factors were more or less beneficial, which difficulties or problems they had to face etc. On the basis of these deep and revealing insights a number of recommendations were elaborated. These recommendations were largely confirmed by the findings of the RAY PART study, which focused on the question which approaches to participation and citizenship education and learning applied in projects funded by European youth programmes were effective in developing participation and citizenship competences and practices. Furthermore, the RAY PART findings resulted in some additional recommendations55.

The findings of the RAY LTE EXT project showed, that many of the previously mentioned learning effects were still persistent for the interviewees seven to eight years after the project and that a few interview partners became aware of project effects only after this period of time. Thus, the research provides strong evidence, that projects of European youth programmes have long-term effects on participation and citizenship competence and practice of project participants on a broad scale.

The recommendations of the RAY LTE and RAY PART projects are supported by the results of the RAY LTE EXT study and were refined against this background. They are outlined below.

Recommendations for the project level

The findings of the RAY LTE and RAY PART study indicate that participants are frequently not aware of the objectives of European youth programmes⁵⁶ related explicitly or implicitly to participation and active citizenship, even if linked to their project theme. Furthermore, younger and less educated participants often have difficulties understanding the rather abstract notion and concept of 'active citizenship' and translating it into their real lives.

Therefore, it is recommended

- to emphasise objectives related to participation and active citizenship in projects of European youth programmes;
- to communicate explicitly the concepts of 'active citizenship' and 'participation in civil society and democratic life' in a language, phrasing and terminology that is comprehensible and close to the reality of participants and project team members;
- to address explicitly topics related to participation and citizenship and to clarify the links between these topics and participation and citizenship;
- to use a variety of non-formal learning methods, providing for affective, interactive, experiential as well as cognitive learning, including periods of reflection as integral element of the methodology of European youth projects.

In the fourth interview, none of the interview partners mentioned persistent learning effects connected to the protection of the environment; in contrast, this topic was mentioned often in the second and third interview, although only one or two projects touched this topic. Maybe the focus on environmental protection in 2015 and 2018 had to do with the increasing importance of the topic for young people during the last ten, fifteen years; maybe the topic is overshadowed by the war in Ukraine, the Gaza Strip or the increasing strength of right-wing extremist movements. Since participation implies solidarity with future generations as well as with people suffering from pollution and an unfair distribution of resources, the respective recommendation is still valid and amended as follows: it is recommended

 to highlight environmental protection, sustainable development and action against climate change as topics included in European youth programmes related to participation and active citizenship.

⁵⁵ See Fennes & Gadinger 2021a, p. 46ff.

Since the foundation of the European Solidarity Corps in 2018 – as a second youth programme besides the youth chapter of Erasmus+ – the wording 'European youth programmes' was introduced within the RAY network and was already used in the RAY PART project. The term is used here, too, because the findings of the three research projects are assembled in this chapter.

Project design and implementation

The following recommendations were also derieved from both, the RAY LTE and the RAY PART project, and are supported through the RAY LTE EXT results:

- Establishing a project design and project settings that provide for encountering differences as a basis for learning through exchange and discourse.
- Linking social and political events and developments at local, regional, national, European and global levels to the project theme and to learning spaces in the environment of the project.
- Using adequate non-formal education and learning methods.
- Providing time and space for informal learning.
- Providing for adequate preparation as part of the project, in particular with respect to the development of participation and citizenship competence and practice, as well as to the European dimension of the project.
- Providing adequate guidance to participants.
- Fostering participation and active citizenship by involving the hosting community.
- Providing adequate time, space and guidance for reflection, individually and in groups, of experiences and learning related to participation and active citizenship.
- Providing for adequate follow-up as part of the project, in particular to the development of participation and citizenship competence and practice, as well as to the European dimension of the project.

Programme implementation level

The recommendations for the project level outlined above imply the following recommendations for the programme implementation level:

- Promoting participation and active citizenship as project themes.
- Explicitly communicating the concepts of 'active citizenship' and 'participation in civil society and democratic life' in a language, phrasing and terminology that is comprehensible to beneficiaries, project organisers and project team members, in order to be operationalised in their projects (see above complementary recommendation for the project level).

- Giving special emphasis to promoting projects fostering participation and active citizenship of young people with fewer opportunities. This could be achieved by specifically addressing youth work actors working with young people with fewer opportunities and providing additional funding for respective activities.
- Providing adequate training opportunities for youth workers and youth leaders, including exchange of good practice, on developing and implementing projects fostering participation and citizenship competence and practice of young people in line with the findings of this research project; in this respect, it is necessary to further elaborate youth work competences, which are important for fostering participation and citizenship education and learning. This is necessary since the specific competences required to develop and implement these projects are going beyond those necessary for regular (European) youth projects, thus require specific training.
- Exploring how digital youth work formats can complement face-to-face interaction and actually create synergies between them, to develop respective methods and project designs, and to provide respective training opportunities for youth workers. While there is general agreement that online activities cannot replace face-to-face interactions in (European) youth projects, they can be very useful and effective as complementary settings for blended learning. In order to make best use of potential synergies further developments in this respect are necessary.
- Informing SALTO-YOUTH Resource Centres, in particular SALTO Participation & Information, SALTO Training & Cooperation and SAL-TO Inclusion & Diversity, about the RAY LTE, RAY PART and RAY LTE EXT research findings and discuss possible implications for their work and projects.

Programme level

- Providing sufficient/additional funding explicitly for project elements and measures as recommended above or for new activity types.
- Reviewing the evaluation criteria for project applications in the light of the RAY LTE, RAY PART and RAY LTE EXT research findings; in particular, establishing criteria for participation and citizenship projects funded through European youth programmes, which provide

for follow-up participation and citizenship projects developed and implemented by participants of funded projects, thus contributing to the sustainability and a multiplying effect of the original projects and of the learning outcomes of participants. Ideally, this funding for follow-up activities would already be allocated as part of the grant for the initial project, to be confirmed if the follow-up project is well planned and meeting the funding criteria of the respective European youth programme. This would encourage the participants and project organisers that the project outcomes could actually be used for a future project.

Recommendations for participation and citizenship education and learning in general

- Establishing a European Agency for Citizenship education⁵⁷ and drawing on the findings of the RAY LTE, RAY PART and RAY LTE EXT research projects in order to inform the development of this Agency, in particular with respect to educational approaches, designs and methodologies to be promoted by this Agency.
- Promoting participation and citizenship education and learning as an integral element of youth work.

Recommendations for research

 Extending research on participation and citizenship education and learning to contexts outside European youth programmes and to feed the respective findings into the European youth programmes; in particular, such research should address the participation of young people with fewer opportunities in society and political life.

Recommendations for the policy level

- Promoting participation of young people in the development of European youth policies and programmes so that they reflect the needs and interests of young people. In this respect, there should be an effective dialogue between the youth field and policy makers in the European Union, in particular involving the European Parliament more intensively.
- Developing an ongoing and 'real' dialogue between policy makers and young people and youth workers at all levels (additionally to big events taking place once a year); in this respect, it is suggested to further develop the European Youth Week and link it with local participation initiatives and grass-root participation all over Europe; as for the latter, it is recommended to offer specific training to youth workers and local policy makers in order to promote this dialogue at local level.
- Reviewing European youth policies and programmes in the light of the RAY LTE, RAY PART and RAY LTE EXT research findings; furthermore, these research findings could also contribute to the development of participation and citizenship education and learning in other chapters of Erasmus+.
- Establishing policies and structures providing citizenship education and learning for young people and respective training for youth workers/youth leaders in a sustainable way. Citizenship education and learning for young people and youth workers needs stable structures in order to be available continuously and accessible across Europe.

⁵⁷ See https://valuesunite.eu/supporters/

6 — BIBLIOGRAPHY

Bárta, O., Fennes, H., & Gadinger, S. (2021). Long-term effects of Erasmus+ Youth in Action on Participation and Citizenship. Transnational Analysis. Research report. https://www.research-youth.net/wp-content/uploads/2021/11/RAY-LTE-FTA 20210324-research-report-clean.pdf

Bîrzéa, C. (2005). European citizenship as a cultural and political construct. Journal of Social Science Education (JSSE), European Year of Citizenship through Education (Special Edition 2005). Retrieved from https://www.jsse.org/index.php/jsse/article/view/325/322

Böhler, J., Fennes, H., Karsten, A., Mayerl, M., & Pitschmann, A. (2021). Effects and outcomes of the Erasmus+ Youth in Action Programme. Transnational Analysis. Comparative Research Report 2014-2020. Generation and Educational Science Institute. https://www.researchyouth.net/wp-content/uploads/2022/01/RAY-MON_Research-Report-20142020.pdf

Böhler, J., Fennes, H., Karsten, A., & Mayerl, M. (2022). Effects and outcomes of the Erasmus+YouthinActionProgramme. TransnationalAnalysis. Comparative Data Report 2014-2020. Generation and Educational Science Institute. https://www.researchyouth.net/wp-content/uploads/2021/11/RAY-MON Data-Report-20142020 20211108.pdf

Cogan, J. J. (2000). Citizenship education for the 21st century: Setting the context. In R. Derricott & J. Cogan (Eds.), Citizenship for the 21st Century: an international perspective on education. Kogan Page.

Crick, B. R. (2000). Essays on Citizenship. London: Continuum.Council of Europe (2012). Compendium of Council of Europe approaches to key youth policy and youth work issues.

European Commission (2015). Erasmus+ Programme Guide. Version 1 (2015: 01/01/2014). https://www.erasmusplus.de/fileadmin/user_upload/Dokumente/Rechtsgrundlagen/Aufruf_2015/2015erasmusplus-programme-guide_de.pdf

European Commission (2018). Engaging, Connecting and Empowering young people: A new EU Youth Strategy. https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:52018DC0269

European Commission (2021a). Erasmus+ Programme Guide Version 1 (2021).

https://erasmus-plus.ec.europa.eu/sites/default/files/2021-09/2021-erasmusplus-programmeguide_en.pdf

European Commission (2021b). European Solidarity Corps Guide. 2021 Call. https://youth.europa.eu/sites/default/files/european_solidarity_corps_guide_2021.pdf

European Commission (2024). Erasmus+ Programme Guide. https://erasmus-plus.ec.eu-ropa.eu/sites/default/files/2023-11/2024-Erasmus%2BProgramme-Guide_EN.pdf

European Union (2007). Treaty of Lisbon. http://pub-lications.europa.eu/resource/cellar/688a7a98-3110-4ffe-a6b3-8972d8445325.0007.01/DOC 19

European Union (2018). EU Youth Strategy. https://youth.europa.eu/strategy_en

Fennes, H. (2009). Not yet grown up: Adult citizenship education in Austria. Klagenfurt.

Fennes, H., Gadinger, S. (2021a). Participation and citizenship education and learning in European Youth Programmes. Transnational Research Report. https://researchyouth.net/wp-content/uploads/2022/12/RAY-PART_Research-Report_20221212_final.pdf

Fennes, H., Gadinger, S. (2021b). Summary report. RAY-PART. 2019-2021. Participation and citizenship education and learning in European Youth Programmes. Transnational Analysis. https://researchyouth.net/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/RAY-PART_Summary-Report_2205.pdf

Holford, J., & van der Veen, R. (2003). Lifelong Learning, Governance & Active Citizenship in Europe. Final Report of the ETGACE Research Project: Education and Training for Governance and Active Citizenship in Europe. Analysis of Adult Learning & Design of Formal, Non-formal and Informal Educational Intervention Strategies. Retrieved from http://ec.europa.eu/research/social-sciences/pdf/etgace_en.pdf

Hoskins, B. (2008b). The Discourse of Social Justice within European Education Policy Developments: the example of key competences and indicator development towards assuring the continuation of democracy. In B. Hoskins & R. D. Crick (Eds.). Social Justice, Research and European Policy: defining and measuring key competences in education. European Educational Research Journal, 7(3). Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/250151642 The Discourse of Social Justice within European Education Policy Developments The Example of Key Competences and Indicator Development towards Assuring the Continuation of Democracy

Hoskins, B., & Campbell, J. (2008). Does Formal Education Have an Impact on Active Citizenship Behaviour? Retrieved from https://journals.sage-pub.com/doi/epdf/10.2304/eerj.2008.7.3.386

Hoskins, B., & Crick, R. D. (2008a). Learning to Learn and Civic Competences: different currencies or two sides of the same coin?. Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Communities. Retrieved from https://publications.jrc.ec.europa.eu/repository/search?query=JRC45123&sort=relevance

Hoskins, B., & Mascherini, M. (2008). Measuring Active Citizenship through the Development of a Composite Indicator. Social Indicators Research, 90(3), 459-488. http://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-008-9271-2

Kubow, P., Grossman, D., & Ninomiya, A. (2000). Multidimensional citizenship: Educational policy for the 21st century. In J. J. Cogan & R. Derricott (Eds.), Citizenship for the 21st Century: an international perspective on education. London: Kogan Page.

Marquart-Pyatt, S.T. (2015). Participation. Public Opinion and Environmental Action. In Routledge Handbook of Global Environmental Politics. Routledge. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003008873

Marshall T.H. (1977). Class, citizenship, and social development. Chicago, Ill. [u.a.]: University of Chicago Press.

SALTO Participation & Information (2020). Youth Participation Strategy. A strategy for enhancing youth participation in democratic life through the Erasmus+ and European Solidarity Corps programmes. https://www.salto-youth.net/down-loads/4-17-4089/20200929_ParticipationStrate-gy_Online_Final_02.pdf

Tissot, P. (2004). Terminology of vocational training policy. A multilingual glossary for an enlarged Europe. Retrieved from https://op.europa.eu/en/publication-detail/-/publication/9ad4f109-d71c-4214-bd9e-e0ab845a0a21

Veldhuis, R. (1997). Education for Democratic Citizenship: dimensions of citizenship, core competences, variables and international activities. Retrieved from https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED430867.pdf



